

A Review: Gold nanoparticles in biomedical anti-cancer applications

Maha A. Alsikhan, Maged S. Al-Fakeh*, Fahad M. Alminderej, Wael A. El-Sayed

Chemistry Department, College of Science, Qassim University, Buraidah 51452, Saudi Arabia

*Corresponding author: <u>m.alfakeh@qu.edu.sa</u>



Keywords:

Gold nanoparticles, Drug delivery, Photothermal, Photodynamic, Sonodynamic, Radiosensitizer therapy, Anticancer

JQUS: Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp 90-128

CONTENTS:

- 1. Introduction
- 2. properties of gold nanoparticles
- 3. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles
 - 3.1 Biological
 - 3.2 Green synthesis of plant extract -AuNPs
 - 3.3 The general approach to plant preparation-AuNPs
 - 3.4 Physical
 - 3.5 Chemicals
 - 3.6 Turkevich-Frens method
- 4. Application of gold nanoparticles
 - 4.1 Drug delivery
 - 4.2 Photodynamic therapy
 - 4.3 Photothermal therapy
 - 4.4 Sonodynamic therapy
 - 4.5 Radio-Sensitizer in radiotherapy
- 5. gold nanoparticles in cancer management
 - 5.1 AuNPs as drug delivery agents targeting cancer cells
 - 5.2 AuNP application in tumor imaging
 - 5.3 AuNP application in tumor radio sensitization
 - 5.4 AuNPapplication in tumor hyperthermia
 - 5.5 AuNP application in tumor gene therapy
 - 5.6 Other applications of AuNPs in tumor management

6. Different types of cancers

- 6.1 Lung cancer
- 6.2 Breast cancer
- 6.3 Cervical cancer
- 6.4 Liver cancer
- 6.5 Colorectal cancer
- 7. Other Applications gold nanoparticles
 - 7.1 Enzyme Immobilization
 - 7.2 Immunoassay
 - 7.3 SNP Detection
 - 7.4 Metal Sensors
 - 7.5 In Microscopy
 - 7.6 In Vaccines
 - 7.7 therapeutic agents in pathologic angiogenesis
 - 7.8 in various dental applications
 - 7.8.1 Dental diagnostics
 - 7.8.2 Preventive dentistry
 - 7.8.3 Dental materials
 - 7.8.3.1 Prosthodontics
 - 7.8.3.2 Endodontics
 - 7.8.3.3 Periodontics, Implantology, and regenerative dentistry
- 8. Challenges of AuNPs in clinical applications
- 9. Toxicity of AuNPs

Conclusions

References

ABBREVIATIONS:

(AuNPs) gold nanoparticles (PDT) Photodynamic therapy (PTT) photothermal therapy (SDT)Sonodynamic Therapy

ABSTRACT:

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPS) are highly promising organisms for solving a wide range of medical problems due to their special properties and low toxicity. The production of gold nanoparticles by biological method (green synthesis) is environmentally friendly and allows to reduce the amount of harmful chemicals and toxic products. This review is devoted to anticancer biomedical gold nanoparticle applications, and a variety of cancer types are mentioned, including lung, breast, cervical, liver, colorectal, and drug delivery mechanism targeting cancer cells. Other applications of these nanoparticles in vaccines, enzyme inhibition, vaccines, dentistry, and their work as metal sensors and others were also discussed.

1. Introduction

Cancer is a catch-all term for a group of genetic diseases. It is distinguished by uncontrollable random cell division. Cancer is frequently caused by mutations or changes in the expression patterns of primary oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes, and DNA repair genes. The majority of cancers are caused by environmental factors such as exposure to radiation and pollutants, but most importantly by an unhealthy lifestyle that includes a lack of physical activity, a poor diet, tobacco use, and stress. Only 5 10% of cancer cases are linked to inherited genetics. Cancer risk increases significantly with age, and many types of cancer are more common in developed countries [1][2]. Cancer is regarded as one of the leading causes of death worldwide. That's 14 million new cancer cases and 8.2 million cancer-related deaths, according to the National Cancer Institute (NCI). The number of new cases is expected to rise to 24 million over the next two decades, and approximately 40% of people will be diagnosed with cancer during their lifetime, it is known that cancer can be treated in several ways. Surgical removal, chemotherapy, radiotherapy (RT), or a combination of these three, depending on tumor size and location [3]. In addition to these primary procedures, secondary procedures such as photodynamic therapy, thermotherapy, sonodynamic therapy, and gene therapy are used to treat cancer. Among these methods, radiotherapy is a highly effective and noninvasive cancer treatment method. Four out of every ten cancer patients have received radiotherapy as part of their treatment. Radiation treatment plans in radiotherapy must be designed so that the damage to healthy tissue is kept tolerable for the patient while delivering a sufficient dose to the tumor [4].

In recent decades, many studies have been conducted on the use of organic and inorganic nanoparticles in all procedures associated with the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are gaining popularity in a variety of fields of study due to their non-toxicity, biocompatibility, and unique properties. Gold (Au, atomic number 79) was discovered several thousand years ago and was one of the first metals to be discovered. Under standard conditions, it is a lustrous, yellow, dense, soft, and malleable metal in its purest form. Gold is one of the least reactive chemical elements. The high value of gold has been recognized since its discovery due to its rarity, ease of handling, workmanship, resistance to corrosion and other chemical reactions, and of course, its distinctive color. First, the characteristics of AuNPs will be discussed in this review. Some synthesized methods and then applications of AuNPs in various areas of cancer diagnosis and treatment are then listed.

2. Properties of gold nanoparticles

Gold-based materials have been used to treat diseases such as syphilis, epilepsy, rheumatism, tuberculosis, and a variety of inflammatory skin diseases [5][6]. It has also been used in recent years to diagnose and treat cancer in a variety of ways because of its distinct characteristics. The following are some of the unique properties of AUNPS:

• Simple synthesis in a variety of sizes and shapes [7].

• Surface properties of AuNPs: Due to AuNPs' reactivity with thiol and amino compounds, a variety of biological ligands, including DNA, peptides, proteins, antibodies, and viruses, can be used to coat the surface of AuNPs [8].

• Optical properties of AuNPs: Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) is a phenomenon related to the surface metal nanoparticles that give rise to the unique optical properties of AuNPs [9]. SPR occurs as a result of the oscillation of valence electrons in a solid when exposed to light. Following light absorption in nanoparticles, photons with the same frequency were emitted in all directions [10]. AuNPs' SPR properties allow them to absorb light in the near-infrared (NIR) and visible ranges. This property of AuNPs can be used in photothermal therapy and some optical imaging modalities.

- Good biocompatibility
- Nontoxic nature
- Comparative stability [11]
- Desirable endocytosis by mammalian cells [12]
- Low osmolality, even at high concentrations [13][14]
- Low viscosity, which allows convenient injection even into small vessels [14]

• Their high absorption coefficient, density, and atomic number make them an ideal agent for radiotherapy diagnostic and treatment stages. Following their synthesis, AuNPs can be easily characterized using a variety of methods, including 1. Determine the size distribution using a Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) instrument. 2. Ultraviolet-visible (UV-Visible) spectrophotometry is used to assess the optical and electrical properties of nanoparticles. The maximum absorbance wavelength and optical density of a solution are affected by particle size and concentration [9]. UV-visible spectroscopy is used to verify the size and stability of AuNPs after they have been synthesized. 3. Direct imaging of AuNPs using Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) to control features such as size, morphology, and surface coating [15]. 4. X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) for characterization of GNP surfaces [16]. AuNPs have been extensively studied in various fields of cancer diagnosis and treatment due to their unique properties.

Figure 1 depicts the unique properties of AuNPs.



Fig 1: Unique properties of AuNPs

3. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles

Gold nanoparticles are the most important and common metallic nanoparticles, and they have been synthesized using a variety of physical and chemical processes. To create gold nanoparticles, a variety of biological, physical, and chemical synthesis techniques have been developed.

3-1 Biological

The biological synthesis of nanoparticles is a non-hazardous, dynamic, and energyefficient method of producing nanoparticles. To synthesize NPs in vivo, this approach employs a variety of biological resources ranging from prokaryotes to eukaryotes. Metabolites found in these sources (proteins, fatty acids, sugars, enzymes, and phenolic compounds) play an important role in both the bioreduction of metallic ions to NPs and their stability. AuNPs produced biologically are more stable than those produced by other methods. Although AuNPs can be produced efficiently via chemical routes, the main risk is the generation of byproducts (secondary products) that are hazardous to human health and the environment. Many biological systems, such as plants, bacteria, yeasts, and bacteria, are therefore actively exploring new routes for the production of safe nano-products.

3.2 Green synthesis of plant extract -AuNPs

When compared to other environmentally friendly biological methods, nature provides a plethora of plants with the advantages of low cost, high reproducibility, eco-friendliness, and precision purification. The use of plant extracts as reducing agents and stabilizers in the preparation of gold nanoparticles has recently sparked interest due to their numerous benefits [17].

3.3 The general approach to plant preparation-AuNPs

It is a straightforward method that involves the selection of specific sections based on the type of plants. Collect, for example, the root part of the Euphorbia Fischer Diana plant, which is used as an antioxidant in general, the pulp part of Punicagranatum as an antimicrobial, the leaf of Allium noeanum as an antibacterial, and the juice of Papaya as L-Lys [17]. For example, after chemical therapy, cancer cells become insensible as a result of repeated drug administration; nanoparticles, on the other hand, are capable of increasing intracellular drug accumulation due to their ability to target and distribute more specific drugs [18]. Stabilizers and agents Plant extract biomolecules[19]. include polyphenols, flavonoids, sugar reduction, polysaccharides, alkaloids, amino acids, vitamins, ketones, phenols, and proteins. A plant that contains at least one of the aforementioned chemicals that reduces the metal ion to elemental metal must always be selected for biosynthesis. To prevent aggregation, first, reduce Au3+ to Au0, then meditate and stabilize AuNPs by covering the outer surface of gold. The diagrammatic representation of plant-based AuNP synthesis is shown in (**Figure 2**).



Fig. 2: Schematic representation of various parts of plant-based synthesis of AuNPs.

3.4 Physical

Several beneficial properties of spherical AuNPs have been identified, including sizeand shape-related optoelectronic capabilities, a high surface-to-volume ratio, excellent biocompatibility, and low toxicity. It was discovered that the contact angle is heavily influenced by the size of the nanoparticles. The contact angle for de-ionized water droplets ranged from 24 to 67, and for DEG (droplet-based electricity generator droplets) ranged from 15 to 60, with nanoparticle sizes ranging from 14 to 620 nm. Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) and the ability to quench fluorescence are two important physical properties of AuNPs. Spherical AuNPs in aqueous solution exhibit a spectrum of colors (e.g., brown, orange, red, and purple) as the core size increases from 1 to 100 nm, with a size-relative maximum absorption between 500 and 550 nm. Furthermore, in aqueous environments, particles with high charges can cause double layers to form, and they can be discrete, dispersed, or suspended in the solution. The energy levels of electrons in a substance in nano-form are not as continuous as in bulk form. They are separated by the electronic wave function's confinement in up to three physical dimensions. This results in a change in surface area and electron containment; the change in material properties is controlled similarly to how melting point, fluorescence, electrical conductivity, and magnetic permeability are combining an ion coater on glycerin with a viscous liquid capture medium is a simple and direct method for producing uniform gold nanoparticles with a narrow size distribution. A low-cost, low-energy synthesis method that does not was necessitating the use of additives or reducing/stabilizing agents. It is based on a physical low vapor deposition method, as opposed to the traditional hydration process of chemical reactions in liquids. The absorption spectrum showed a surface plasmon resonance peak at 530 nm during the formation of gold nanoparticles; the red-shift with increasing particle size indicated that gold nanoparticles were successfully developed using the ion coater [20]. Recently, researchers have focused on novel methods for synthesizing controllable particles of various shapes and sizes, **Figure 3** revealed that the AuNP's anatomy and physiology are associated with optical physical characteristics [21].



Fig.3: AuNPs TEM images: (a) quasi-spheres, (b) nanorods, (c) nanodumbbells, (d) triangular nanoprisms, (e) ultrathin nanowires, (f) nanostars; (g and h) AuNP SEM images: Nanodendrites (g) and (h) nanocubes.

3.5 Chemicals

Surface charge, surfactants, functionality, and stabilizers may be used in a specific application. The ultimate preferable state for nanoparticles is Au0 (non-oxidized state). Thus, the primary stage in the preparation of positively charged gold nanoparticles AuNPs is to reduce the oxidation of gold Au⁺¹(aureus) or Au⁺³(auric) to Au⁰ by adding a reducing agent to the reaction, which is then vigorously stirred to form fairly uniform NPs in size. The AuNPs solution is then saturated, causing moderate precipitation. To reduce aggregate NPS, a stabilizing medium that adsorbs on the NP surface is typically used. The principle is the same, but there are several ways to accomplish it.

3.6 Turkevich-Frens method

This method, which was developed by J. Turkevich et al. to produce moderately colloidal AuNPs with sizes ranging from 10 to 20 nm, is used to synthesize AuNPs. The diameter of the shaped NPs can be altered by varying the amount of reactant used, as well as by using different styles or stabilizing factors. The main drawback was that only a limited number of AuNPs could be produced [22].

4. Application of AuNPs in cancer treatment

Gold nanoparticles can be used in a variety of applications, including air cleaning to remove odors and harmful carbon monoxide from rooms, water purification, energy cells, and critical medical applications. Since these particles can enter tissues due to their small size, one of the most important applications of these particles is their important role in cancer prevention, diagnosis, and treatment.

4.1 Drug delivery

The ability of nanoparticles (NPs) as drug delivery systems to carry drugs is 10 to 100 times greater than the molecular administration of drugs to tumors to improve diagnostic and therapeutic applications [23]. Furthermore, because of fewer uptakes by the reticularendothelial system (RES), the drug circulation time within NPs can be increased, and it can augment drug uptake by tumor cells [24][25]. Because of properties such as biocompatibility, nontoxicity, and high affinity, the surface of AuNPs can be used for active tumor targeting with ligands, antibodies, and biomarkers capable of specific binding to tumors. Cytotoxic drug delivery at specific sites can improve diagnosis and treatment while reducing adverse side effects [8][26]. Some studies have reported the use of AuNPs to improve the therapeutic efficiency of anti-cancer drugs such as methotrexate[27]. tamoxifen[28], paclitaxel[29], and platinum-based drugs such as cisplatin and oxaliplatin[30][31].

4.2 Photodynamic therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a novel treatment option for cancer treatment[25][32]. The PDT is founded on utilizing a photosensitizer that becomes after being irradiated with light Oxygen that is reactive Species (ROS) are produced as a result of light irradiation, because of the transfer of energy to the surroundings [8]. Traditionally, clinical photosensitizers Porphyrins and phthalocyanines are two examples of agents. Because of the lipid, hydrophobic substances are unable to enter cell membranes. As a result, they require a suitable carrier that can enter cancer cells without altering their structure agent. Indeed, in photodynamic therapy research, Nanoparticles serve as a vehicle for drug delivery[33]. Photosensitizer drugs Furthermore, the Nanoparticle adhesion to photosensitizing molecules ROS production can be increased by molecules[34][35]. PDT efficiency can be improved when conjugated with photosensitizer agents [25][33][35]. Khaing et al [33]discovered that using 5-aminolevulinic acid (5- ALA) bonded with AuNPs can increase the uptake rate of 5-ALA by

fibrosarcoma cells when compared to free 5-ALA. It has been reported that it causes a twofold increase in ROS production. In addition, Mohammadi et al [35] reported that the presence of AuNPs (34nm) bonded with 5-ALA increases the uptake of 5-ALA photosensitizer drug by melanoma cells in PDT compared to 5-ALA alone. The results of an in vivo study suggested that the use of a designed gold nanoconjugate with 5-ALA would increase the efficiency of PDT compared to free 5-ALA. In different delivery systems, AuNPs covered by the PEG layer exhibit the highest efficiency for PDT drug delivery[32].

4.3 Photothermal therapy

AuNPs absorb light in the visible and near-infrared ranges, making them an excellent candidate for photothermal therapy (PTT). The temperature rises in the PTT method due to heat generation by AuNPs, which can cause cell death at temperatures above 50°C [11]. The temperature rises and light absorption in the NIR region are greater than in the visible region. Irradiation with NIR light excites electrons at various atomic levels, and when they return to a stable state, they emit energy as heat, which can raise the temperature of their surroundings. The shape of AuNPs affects scattering and absorption in the near-infrared region. Photothermal studies with AuNPs have shown that AuNPs shaped as nanorods, nanocages, and nanoshells have absorption peaks in the NIR region, whereas spherical AuNPs have a visible absorption peak at 530 nm[10]. Several studies have found that gold nanospheres are not as efficient as other shapes in terms of photothermal because their absorbance peak is in the visible rather than the NIR region [11]. The PTT method has been used successfully in the presence of AuNPs to treat cancer cell lines from the epithelial, breast, and colon, both in vitro and in vivo[36][37]. Hirsch et al. reported the use of silica nanoparticles coated with gold nanoshell for the treatment of human breast cancer cells by NIR PTT in vitro and in vivo [38]. Ghahremani et al discovered that microwave exposure increased the death of Saos-2 cells in the presence of AuNPs. They reported that increasing the size and concentration of AuNPs was a key factor in the improved efficiency of microwave thermal therapy. Mehdizadeh et al [39] conducted another study in which mouth epidermal carcinoma cells (KB cells) were treated with laser irradiation in conjunction with folateconjugated gold nanorods. Salem et al [40] used laser irradiation with 5-FU-loaded chitosanwrapped AuNPs to treat human hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG2). After 20 minutes of laser exposure, the 5-FU-AuNPs demonstrated enhanced light absorption with highly efficient photothermal conversion, resulting in a seven-fold reduction in the IC50 value.

4.4 Sonodynamic therapy

Sonodynamic Therapy (SDT) is a noninvasive cancer treatment method that employs ultrasound Cavitation can be caused by the accumulation of sonosensitizing agents in tumors followed by ultrasonic exposure in SDT. Acoustic cavitation has two modes: stable and transient. As a result of the acoustic cavitation phenomenon, ultrasound waves with high intensity and low frequency possess great curative potential. Bubbles grow several times larger than their initial size during transient cavitation and then collapse. As a result, high mechanical and physiological stresses applied to the surrounding environment can be used to kill cancer cells [41]. Ultrasound irradiation had little effect on the tumor, but it was boosted by AuNPs. The CT26 cell line was used in an in vivo study. A significant difference was observed between the SDT+AuNPs group and other groups 13 days after treatment in terms of tumor volumes.

4.5 Radio-Sensitizer in radiotherapy

Almost 60% of cancer patients receive radiotherapy as part of their treatment. The use of radiation modifiers (protectors and sensitizers) before or shortly after radiation exposure is an important clinical method for reducing the effect of radiation on normal tissues and improving cell killing in tumors. High atomic number compounds containing elements such as iodine, which are used as contrast agents, can also act as radio-sensitizers. Unfortunately, cancer cells cannot absorb them selectively. Furthermore, they can cause anaphylactic shock, hypersensitivity, kidney failure, and selective iodine uptake within the thyroid gland [42]. AuNPs have distinct properties, particularly they're Because of their nontoxic nature and high atomic number, they are a good candidate for radiosensitizers. The action of AuNPs as a radiosensitizer has been investigated using simulation under inclement weather conditions in vitro and in vivo at low and high energies in several studies We will go over this in greater detail later subject in the sections that follow Before the submission of any AuNPs applications, application as a drug in clinical settings, toxicity and health effects on both targeted and non-targeted populations Tissues must be studied. It is critical to study. GNP toxicity and uptake because AuNPs are it is widely used in a variety of medical applications. The various applications of GNP in cancer treatment are summarized in (Figure 4).



Fig 4: Different applications of AuNPs in cancer treatment

5. Gold nanoparticles in cancer management

5.1. AuNPs as drug delivery agents targeting cancer cells

AuNPs as drug delivery agents can increase the pharmacokinetics of the drug, thereby reducing non-specific side effects and achieving higher doses of targeted drug delivery. A prominent application of AuNPs is using them as vehicles for the delivery of molecules into cells. The payload can be a small molecule drug or a large biomolecule such as a protein, DNA, or RNA [43]. However, various factors need to be considered in designing an effective drug delivery system. The properties of AuNPs, such as their size, charge, and surface chemistry, have been shown to affect their uptake, as well as their subsequent intracellular fate. Gold nanoconjugates cetuximab and gemcitabine to be highly targeted in pancreatic cancer cells with high epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) expression [44]. Jiang et al prepared AuNPs with diameters from 2 to 100 nm and coupled them with trastuzumab using a citric

acid reduction method [45]. The results suggest that they target human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER-2)-positive SK-BR-3 breast cancer cells. Better targeting is achieved, and cells have an obvious endocytosis effect on AuNPs with a diameter of 40 to 50 nm, while small-diameter AuNPs tend to separate from the cell membrane. Chen et al [46] used AuNPs of approximately 14 nm as the carrier linking with methotrexate (MTX) to study adverse reactions in vitro and anticancer effects in vivo. The results showed that compared with MTX alone, the coupling MTX of AuNPs can be rapidly and efficiently concentrated in tumor cells which significantly reduces the dose-dependent effect of efficacy [47]. Goel et al [48] also conducted a similar study and found that AuNPs can not only deliver drugs but also specifically infrared photothermal damage of tumor cells, which can be combined with near-infrared rays.

5.2 AuNPs application in tumor imaging

The most effective way to improve the prognosis of tumors is early diagnosis. In precision, intensity-modulated radiation therapy, such as 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy and image-guided radiation therapy, accurate and clear images are important for the delineation of tumor target areas [49]. In recent years, many studies have attempted to use functional imaging to develop tumor radiotherapy plans. Although single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) have higher sensitivity and specificity in distinguishing tumors from normal tissues, their spatial resolution is poor [50][51]. High spatial resolution is important in improving the tumor treatment ratio. The commonly used contrast agents are iodine agents, which have a short half-life in the blood (<10 min) and are less tumor-specific. With the rapid development of nanotechnology, the application of multifunctional nanoparticles in medical imaging has become important, such as iron oxide nanoparticles, carbon nanorods, AuNPs, and so on [6]. Among these nanomaterials, AuNPs have received increasing attention due to their mature synthesis, stability, and especially high X-ray absorption capacity. AuNPs are characterized by small size, good biocompatibility, and high atomic number, which means that AuNPs are potentially good contrast agents. At present, there are 2 ways in which AuNPs can target tumor cells: passive or active. Passive targeting uses only the osmotic tension effect (EPR) to converge in tumor tissue to form enhanced imaging [52][53]. Active targeting is the coupling of AuNPs with tumor-specific targeting agents, such as EGFR monoclonal antibodies, to achieve active targeting of tumor cells by GNP. When the energy exceeds 80 keV, the mass decay of gold is higher than that of iodine, which indicates that gold-nano is more advantageous in development [54]. Rand et al used mixed AuNPs with liver cancer cells and X-ray imaging and found that the liver cancer cell clusters in the gold-nano-mixed group were significantly more potent than the simple liver cancer cells. Using this new technology, tumors with a few millimeters in diameter in vivo can be detected, which is of great significance for early diagnosis [55].

5.3 AuNPs application in tumor radio sensitization

The distribution of AuNPs in tissues depends on their parameters, such as size and ability to inactivate tumor cells. Radiation therapy is widely used in almost all types of tumors, such as breast cancer [56]. The rays include X-rays, gamma rays, and high-energy particles. However, radiation therapy is indistinguishable between cancerous and normal tissues. Therefore, reducing normal tissue damage remains a limiting factor in radiation therapy [57]. Herold et al injected 1.9 nm AuNPs into breast cancer model mice and found that the tumor volume was reduced dramatically and the 1-year survival rate was higher after 2 minutes of irradiation (30 Gy) [58]. Stern et al injected AuNPs into the tumor site with radiotherapy and found that the tumor volume was significantly smaller and did not significantly expand with time [59]. Targeting AuNPs is a hotspot of the present research. By coupling chemical drugs or some biomacromolecules with AuNPs through chemical methods, it can play a role in reducing toxicity and increasing efficiency by changing the volume, mass, and charge of AuNPs [60]. Zhang et al constructed PEG-GNP conjugates from PEG using different diameters of AuNPs [61]. By coculturing with HeLa cells, Zhang et al [62] found that the amount of the conjugates entering cells was much higher than that of pure AuNPs. Khoshgard et al [63] synthesized folate and AuNPs to construct FA-GNP conjugates and co-cultured with HeLa cells with high expression of folate receptors and found that the uptake of FA-AuNPs by cells was much higher. Khoshgard et al found that the DEF (dose enhancement factor) co-cultured with FA-AuNPs was 1.23±0.09 times that of the simple irradiation group [48]. The results showed that the main uptake site was the cytoplasm, while the uptake of C225-AuNPs was much higher [64].

There is currently no clear conclusion about the mechanism of radio-sensitization of AuNPs. Jain et al co-cultured breast cancer cells with AuNPs under hypoxic, normoxic, and aerobic conditions and irradiated them. The uptake of AuNPs by cells under hypoxic conditions was higher than that under aerobic conditions. Under hypoxic conditions, the proliferation of breast cancer cells is also significantly reduced [65]. AuNPs showed better sensitizing effects under normoxia and moderate hypoxia. However, under the condition of a lack of oxygen, there is no significant sensitization. Yasui et al [66] concluded that AuNPs are mainly deposited in the cytoplasm and increase the expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress-related proteins by down-regulating DNA repair by inhibiting the expression of DNA repair-related proteins and promoting apoptosis [67].

5.4 AuNPs application in tumor hyperthermia

The thermo-therapeutic mechanism involves the initiation of heat stress in cells at 42 to 47°C, resulting in the activation of cells and/ or the initiation of intracellular and extracellular degradation mechanisms. The effects of hyperthermia on intracellular and extracellular processes include changes in signal transduction, induction of apoptosis, reduction of perfusion, and tumor oxygenation [68]. AuNRs or AuNSs has significant advantages for the absorption and scattering of near-infrared light (wavelengths from 650 to 900 nm). When exposed to electromagnetic radiation, especially near-infrared light, AuNPs can generate heat through surface plasmon resonance effects. Since the absorption peak of AuNPs is in the visible range (450– 600 nm), the absorption of near-infrared light by normal tissues is extremely small [44]. Stimulation of AuNPs by near-infrared laser irradiation induces

hyperthermia and minimally damages normal tissues. Therefore, gold nano-mediated thermo-therapeutics have the advantages of specificity and small trauma compared with traditional methods. In a mouse model of colon cancer, the researchers injected PEGconjugated AuNPs into mice, and AuNPs were deposited on the tumor site and irradiated with near-infrared light at 800 nm. This treatment significantly prolonged the survival of the mice[69]. Moreover, the skin reaction in the normal part of the body was not different from that in the control group and only in the tumor site. Stuchinskaya et al found that AuNPs linked to anti-HER-2 antibodies can selectively target the killing of HER-2 over-expressing breast cancer cells after laser irradiation, indicating that AuNPs linked to antibodies are a kind of photothermal therapy and effective medium [70]. Huang et al found that the anti-EGFR antibody AuNRs can kill tumor cells at a lower laser power without causing normal cells to be damaged by high heat. Hainfeld et al [71] found that the tumor was completely ablated and that normal tissues were almost intact, in the photothermal treatment of rat tumors with modified cetuximab AuNPs. Wang et al covalently bound the nucleic acid aptamer CSC13 to the surface of AuNRs and targeted killed prostate cancer DU-145 cells and cancer stem cells under near-infrared light [72]. AuNPs absorb near-infrared rays, which accelerate the tumor temperature rise and can also be used to enhance tumor absorption of X-ray doses. The combination of hyperthermia and radiation therapy is synergistic. When the tumor was heated to 43.5°C with X-ray irradiation for 2 hours, the heat enhancement ratio is 8:1, making hyperthermia one of the most effective radiosensitizers [73]. However, tumor hyperthermia has certain limitations, such as poor specificity, difficulty in reaching deep tumors, and heat tolerance in the early stages [74].

5.5 AuNPs application in tumor gene therapy

Gene therapy is a new treatment that began in the late 20th century and provides an ideal way to treat cancer [75]. The targeted introduction of nucleic acids into tumor cells is a key process in gene therapy. Efficient transfection reagents must protect nucleic acids from nuclease degradation, and nucleic acids are released by cells and act in activated and released forms within the nucleus. AuNPs protect the surface of DNA from DNase I degradation [76]. On the 1 hand, due to steric hindrance, the enzyme cannot bind to the DNA on the surface of the particles and is not degraded by the enzyme [77]. On the other hand, a highly concentrated ion concentration around the DNA inhibits the activity of the enzyme. A synthetic non-viral nucleic acid delivery system such as a liposome has low immunogenicity but in general, has a problem of low delivery efficiency [78]. AuNPs have a large specific surface area and are easy to modify. They can be used as an ideal transfection reagent by loading a large amount of nucleic acid while regulating surface charge and enhancing water disposability, improving transfection efficiency and reducing toxicity [79]. Mitra et al [80] used epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) monoclonal antibody as a targeting ligand and bound it to PEI-modified AuNPs. The results showed that siRNA-loaded AuNPs successfully entered RB cells and significantly reduced their viability. At the same time, control experiments showed that targeted siRNA-AuNPs significantly downregulated the expression of the EpCAM gene in RB cells compared to non-antibody-modified siRNA-AuNPs. Ghosh et al used cysteamine-modified AuNP-miRNAs, which are 10 to 20 times more efficient than liposomes and can effectively release miRNAs and downregulate the expression of genes [81]. Since the nucleic acid aptamer has a targeting function, it has become a hot spot for antitumor research. Ryou et al [82] used AuNPs to deliver RNA ligands specific for b-catenin (which acts as a transcription factor in the nucleus) into HepG2 cells with higher transfection efficiency than liposomes. The results showed that the transcriptional activity of b-catenin in the nucleus was almost completely inhibited, and the mRNA levels of cyclin D and oncogene c-myc were decreased. In addition, they also ligated the RNA aptamer targeting the transcription factor NF-kB p50 to AuNPs. The results indicated that AuNPs could load aptamers into human lung cancer A549 cells and effectively induce apoptosis.

5.6 Other applications of AuNPs in tumor management

AuNPs can also be used as a stabilizer for other drug carriers, such as liposomes, and at the same time improves their delivery efficiency. The drug is susceptible to leakage in the plasma and other organs which limits its use [83]. Wang et al examined the adsorption of phospholipids by nanoparticles and demonstrated that nanoparticles can induce gelation at the liposome adsorption site. Since 25% of the outer surface of the lipid is occupied by the nanoparticles, the nanoparticle-modified liposome has no obvious leakage within 50 days of the solution [84]. Yang et al used AuNPs as stabilizers for oil-in-water emulsion droplets. They prepared a net negatively charged oil-in-water emulsion droplet with a particle size below 100 nm. The positively charged AuNPs bind to it via electrostatic interaction and then as a "bridge" to shield the strong repulsion between AuNPs and force. The results showed that the interaction between the AuNP-emulsion and AuNP-transferrin significantly improved the stability of the emulsion droplets [85][86]. In addition, AuNPs can also be used to promote the release of drugs. An et al embedded AuNPs in the middle of the bilayer of the liposome and used its photothermal effect to cause phase transition of the liposome bilayer to achieve drug release [87].

6 Different types of cancers

Due to space constraints, we have primarily focused on the most recent applications of AuNPs in solid tumor diagnosis and treatment, including lung, breast, cervix, liver, colon, and rectum crabs. AuNPs, on the other hand, have been used in the treatment of hematological malignancies such as acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [88] and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [89]. Because of the unique properties of different AuNPs types, the use of AuNPs improved the efficacy of anticancer drug Treatments by increasing the amount of medication delivered to them Tumor.

6.1 Lung cancer

Some recent studies have reported the use of AuNPs for lung cancer diagnosis and treatment. Zhang et al. created AuNP-coated carbon nanospheres with an anticarcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) antibody and used an ultrasensitive electrochemical cytosensing platform to diagnose nonsmall-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). In A549 lung cancer cells, the AuNP complex was nontoxic. Furthermore, the detection system was highly sensitive to A549 lung cancer cells, with a detection limit of 14 cells/ml. As a result, the findings of this in vitro study suggest that the AuNPs used to have the potential to detect early-stage NSCLC [90]. Shahhoseini et al. investigated the effects of combining 15 nm AuNPs and ionizing radiation (IR) in human A549 lung cancer cells in vitro, focusing on the optical properties of AuNPs. Their findings showed that combining 1 mM AuNPs with 5 Gy of IR had a significantly greater inhibitory effect on cancer cell migration than IR alone. The anticancer efficacy of AuNPs and IR was due to water radiolysis, which increased ROS levels. The ROS were produced by the AuNPs' SPR [91].

6.2 Breast cancer

Breast cancer is the second leading cause of cancer deaths among women in the United States [92]. It has been shown that AuNPs could be used to treat breast cancer as a result of their localization in tumors, thereby decreasing systemic adverse effects and increasing efficacy [93][94]. Satish et al. synthesized AuNPs using HAuCl4 reduction and loaded the nanoparticles with curcumin, turmeric, quercetin, and paclitaxel. They then determined the efficacy of the AuNPs in MCF-7 and MDA-MB 231 breast cancer cells and the noncancerous cell line, HEK293. Their results indicated that the drug-bound AuNPs had greater efficacy than curcumin, turmeric, quercetin, and paclitaxel alone, and had lower toxicity in normal cells compared to breast cancer cells [95]. Dziawer et al [96] determined the efficacy of 211At-AuNP-PEGtrastuzumab in HER2-positive breast cancer cells in vitro. These investigators modified the surface of the AuNPs using polyethylene glycol (PEG), thereby allowing for the synthesis of AuNPs with trastuzumab, a HER2-specific monoclonal antibody. Their results indicated that conjugation with trastuzumab significantly increased the specificity and efficacy in breast cancer cells [96]. Significant results in breast cancer cells have been obtained by increasing the PTT and PDT efficacy of AuNPs. Liu et al. designed and synthesized functional chlorin gold nanorods coated with mesoporous silica, D-type cellpenetrating peptide (d-CPP), and Ce6. The mesoporous silica enhanced the attachment of Ce6 and d-CPP, which increased the cytotoxicity and apoptosis-inducing effects of PTT and PDT in MCF-7 breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo, with 808 nm 2 W irradiation for 5 minutes in mice xenografted with MCF-7 breast cancer cells [97].

6.3 Cervical cancer

Cervical cancer is the world's fourth most common cancer in women. Several types of AuNPs have recently been developed to improve their in vitro and in vivo efficacy in cervical cancer cells. Catharanthus roseus (CR), a medicinal plant that is the primary source of vincristine and vinblastine, was used in the biosynthesis of CR-AuNPs [98]. In vitro data showed that CR-AuNPs (25–35 nm) were effective at killing HeLa cervical cancer cells (IC50: 5 mg/mL) [98]. Specifically, CR-AuNPs significantly increased caspase-3 and caspase-9 activity, as well as the expression of the proteins Bax and Bid. Increased levels of these proapoptotic proteins significantly increased the likelihood of apoptosis in HeLa cells [98].

6.4 Liver cancer

Currently, there are no highly efficacious treatments for liver cancer, which in 2016 alone caused approximately 27,000 deaths in the United States [99]. Therefore, there is a significant need for novel treatment regimens such as AuNPs. In human hepatoma HepG2 cells and normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), Paino et al. compared the cytotoxicity of AuNPs capped with sodium citrate or poly amidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimers. Their findings showed that PMBCs were less sensitive to AuNPs than HepG2 cells, with HepG2 cell viability ranging from 70% to 80% with 0.01–50 mM citrate AuNPs and 50% to 70% with 0.01–50 mM PAMAM AuNPs.whereas the viability of PBMCs ranged between 60% and 80% with 0.01–50 mM citrate AuNPs and from 65 to 75 percent with 0.01–50 mM citrate AuNPs PAMAM AuNPs at 50 mM. This suggests that the AuNP drug-delivery system might reduce adverse effects if used for cancer therapy. AuNPs have also been used as carriers to produce highly sensitive probes for hepatoma detection. Li et al. used AuNPs conjugated with redox probes on carbon-coated nanotubes (CNTs) for a multi-analyte electrochemical immunoassay to simultaneously detect the liver-cancer biomarkers a-fetoprotein (AFP), a-fetoprotein variants (AFP-L3) and abnormal prothrombin (APT). The probes were immobilized by the AuNPs on the CNTs. By reducing nonspecific interactions, the conjugated AuNP probes significantly improved the detection of liver-cancer biomarkers.AuNPs have also been developed for potential use as a therapy for liver cancer.

Ashokkumar et al [100] investigated the anti-hepatoma efficacy of phytochemically synthesized AuNPs functionalized with Cajanus cajan extracts (CC-AuNPs). In vitro, CC-AuNPs killed HepG2 cancer cells in a concentration- and time-dependent manner, with an IC50 of 6 mg/ml after 24 hours of exposure. Mechanistic studies revealed that CC-AuNPs caused cell death by increasing ROS levels increasing ROS levels [100]. In vitro studies indicate that there is an abnormal expression of microRNAs, such as miR-300, miR-451, miR-345, miR-375, and miR- 326, in human hepatocellular carcinomas, and a decrease in the expression of miR-326 correlates with a poor diagnosis in patients with liver cancer [101]. Thus, it was postulated that mir-326might be an inhibitor of hepatocellular carcinoma. Mo et al. determined the therapeutic efficacy of miR-326-modified AuNPs in hepatocellular carcinoma Huh7 cells in vitro and in mice xenografted with Huh7 cells in vivo. The results indicated that the miR-326modified AuNPs significantly decreased tumor-cell growth and volume. The efficacyofmiR-326 could be due, in part, to a decrease in levels of Akt, a protein that can promote tumor growth [102]. Similarly, Xue et al [102] determined the efficacy of miR-375-conjugated AuNPs. MiR-375 has been linked to spherical AuNPs with a diameter of ~36 nm via covalent goldsulfur bonds. The AuNPs were shown to be a reliable delivery system for microRNAs and the AuNP conjugates induced apoptosis in HepG2 cells (~40% cell viability when incubated with AuNP-miR-375 at 100 nM for 48 h) and Hep3B cells (~50% cell viability when incubated with AuNPmiR- 375 at 100 nM for 48 h) and in mice tumor models. Overall, the stability and biocompatibility of the novel AuNP complex suggest that it might represent a promising therapeutic strategy for treating liver cancer.

6.5 Colorectal cancer

AuNPs are effective in various colon cancer cell lines and tumors in vitro and in vivo [103][104].

7. Other Applications of gold nanoparticles

7.1 Enzyme Immobilization

AuNPs have been used as enzyme immobilization matrices. The enzyme glucose oxidase was attached to AuNPs with a carboxyl-terminated thiol group and functionalized them [105]. The thermal stability of the immobilized enzyme was found to be greater than that of the free enzyme. Such immobilized systems have the potential to be very useful in a variety of biotechnological processes in the food and environmental fields. Hollow gold nanoshells entrapping horse radish peroxides have been synthesized to detect small molecules that can enter the nanoshells [106]. This method keeps the enzyme active in nanoshells, which makes it useful for a variety of biotechnological applications. Bi-enzyme functionalized magnetic nanoparticles were created by combining three layers of nanoparticles made of Fe3O4 magnetic core, Prussian blue interlayer, and gold nanoshell with the enzymes hydrogen peroxide and glucose oxidase [107]. This biosensor was tested using carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and -fetoprotein (AFP) as model systems, resulting in an amplified signal in terms of electrochemical activity and enzyme catalysis. An external magnetic field can be used to regenerate these magnetic nanoparticles. A biosensor of this type offers a wide range of detection methods with high reproducibility and sensitivity.

7.2 Immunoassay

AuNPs functionalized with antibodies such as human IgG and antibodies against pathogenic bacteria have been used in a variety of immunoassays [108][109]. Immunosensors that use single-chain fragment variable recombinant antibodies (scFv) rather than traditional monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies have recently been developed **Figure 5**.



Fig 5. Antibody functionalized AuNPs for use in immunoassay.

ScFvs are small heterodimers composed of antibody variable heavy (VH) and light (VL) chains linked by a peptide linker that serves to stabilize the molecule. ScFv antibodies have several advantages over F_{ab} antibodies, including smaller molecular size, higher labeling fidelity, unique designs, and the ability to be mutated as needed. They also represent the smallest proportion of the antibody required for antigen binding. A colorimetric immunoassay was developed using AuNPs functionalized with engineered scFv containing either cysteine or histidine in its linker region [110]. To expose specific amino acids, scFv can be mutated and assembled using the phage display technique. Mutated scFv fragments exposing cysteine residues were found to form gold-thiolate bonds. These were also discovered to adsorb on the gold surface, forming a monolayer that provided an appropriate orientation for antigen binding. These biosensors based on AuNPs of size < 60 nm were found to be as sensitive as, if not more sensitive than, traditional fluorescence-based biosensors. When rabbit IgG is added to these scFv-cys stabilized AuNPs, the color changes from red to purple. The method was discovered to be highly efficient, sensitive, and with an extremely low detection limit. Similarly, another biosensor based on engineered recombinant A10B scFv has been developed for the detection of protein A as a model through self-assembled monolayer formation detected using AuNPs coated with protein A, with a 42-fold increase in detection limit when compared to A10B F_{ab} [111].

7.3 SNP Detection

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have by far been the most appropriate method for the detection of point mutations or polymorphisms in various genes, which can be easy, detected using complementary single-stranded DNA molecules **Figure 6**.



Fig 6. AuNPs functionalized with ssDNA for Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) detection.

SNPs are often associated with disease detection including diabetes mellitus, β -thalassemia, etc. AuNPs functionalized with single-strand-specific nucleases have been used to detect SNPs [112]. Likewise, a simple colorimetric assay was developed using DNA-functionalized AuNPs to detect SNPs in the human p53 gene [113]. This was successfully used to detect 12-point mutations in the human p53 gene as compared to wild type method showing a simple approach toward the detection of altered nucleotide sequences. This method neither needs complicated modification of AuNPs or DNA, nor additional requirement of DNA probes, signal amplification, or temperature control thus providing advantages over currently available methods.

7.4 Metal Sensors

The DNAzyme-AuNPs system was used to develop an easy colorimetric assay for detecting uranium [114]. Traditionally, complex biophysical techniques such as fluorimetry, ICP-MS, and atomic absorption spectroscopy have been used to detect uranium in the environment. These methods, however, are difficult to implement on-site. The DNAzyme-GNP system is a viable alternative to traditional methods. DNAzymes are in vitro-created catalytic DNA molecules with specific affinities to metal cofactors such as Uranyl (UO2 ²⁺), the most common bioavailable form of uranium. These biosensors detected uranium in two ways: by disassembling DNAzyme functionalized AuNPs in the presence of uranyl ions, resulting in

a visible color change from purple to red ("turn-on" method), or by "turn-off" method, which was based on different adsorption properties of single and double-stranded DNA on AuNPs in the presence of uranyl ions. The method was significant because it detected uranyl at levels lower than the maximum contamination limits set by the US Environmental Protection Agency. Based on the shift in the surface plasmon resonance of AuNPs with aggregation of nanoparticles by sandwich complexation, AuNPs functionalized with aza-crown ether acridinedione were developed as a fluorescent chemosensor for metal ions [115]. Mercury (Hg²⁺⁾ was detected using AuNPs functionalized with L-cysteine. In the presence of UV light and Hg2+, these AuNPs tend to aggregate resulting in their detection and making them useful biosensors for on-site applications [116]. Similar biosensor for Hg2+ detection was developed using oligonucleotide fAuNPs [117].

7.5 In Microscopy

Functionalized AuNPs have found their usage in electron microscopy [118]. The problem of the limited resolution of Cryo-electron microscopy single particle analysis due to poor alignment of samples can be obviated by using two-dimensionally arranged protein arrays labeled on AuNPs through genetic tag sites on proteins. AuNPs functionalized with nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid were used and Mycobacterium tuberculosis 20S proteasomes with 6x-histidine tags were assembled into 2D arrays and were used for three-dimensional reconstruction of biological macromolecules.

7.6 In Vaccines

AuNPs conjugated with carbohydrates and proteins have been used in novel vaccine development approaches, as the glycol-conjugated AuNPs act as a scaffold for carrying a large number of carbohydrate derivatives. Glyco-conjugated AuNPs (1–5 nm) capped with carbohydrate-based antigens found in cancer cells, such as Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide [119], sialyl-Tn and Lewis-Y [120], were tested for immune response and found to have a significantly higher immune response than the corresponding free carbohydrate.

7.7 therapeutic agents in pathologic angiogenesis

AuNPs have been shown to inhibit pathological angiogenesis in the retina, a leading cause of blindness. When compared to control animals, intravitreal administration of AuNPs significantly inhibited retinal neovascularization in a mouse model of oxygen-induced retinopathy of prematurity [121]. Histological examination revealed no differences in retinal thickness, inflammation, or cytotoxic effects on retinal cells in AuNPs-treated animals versus vehicle-treated groups. 134 Reva et al investigated the effect of subcutaneous AuNP injections on dermal structures in male CBA mice [122]. Injected nanoparticles were phagocytosed by macrophages, and AuNPs' anti-angiogenic activity was mediated by the toxic activity of nanoparticle-loaded macrophages. AuNPs' cytotoxic activity on vascular endothelium in subcutaneous tissues was mediated by the deactivation of macrophage migration through the vascular wall [122]. AuNPs treatment of normalized tumor vasculature in a human colorectal carcinoma xenograft nude mouse model (CRC) [123]. Treatment reduced

VEGFR2 and HIF-1 expression, which was accompanied by decreased vessel hyperpermeability and hypoxia, respectively. Furthermore, AuNPs treatment reduced plasma levels of anterior gradient 2 (AGR2), a biomarker associated with cancer progression and angiogenesis. Surprisingly, effects on tumor vasculature were found to disappear by day 14 of AuNPs treatment, implying a time frame for AuNPs' anti-angiogenic effects.

Other studies have demonstrated that AuNPs could enhance angiogenesis in animal models. The application of AuNPs in photo-bio-modulation therapy (PBMT) accelerated cutaneous wound healing in Sprague Dawley rats. Histological results indicated that AuNPs and PBMT are effective in stimulating angiogenesis and triggering inflammatory response at an early stage due to enhanced epithelialization, collagen deposition, and fast vascularization [124]. In addition, AuNPs increased the expression of CD31 endothelial markers and enhanced angiogenesis in an orthotopic co-implantation model of pancreatic cancer [125]. Roma-Rodrigues et al demonstrated modulation of angiogenesis using AuNP-peptide conjugates in CAM assay [126]. Specific peptide conjugates on the surface of AuNPs were observed to promote or inhibit angiogenesis in CAM assay by interacting with endothelial cell angiogenic receptors or by altering the balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors [126].

7.8. In various dental applications

7.8.1 Dental diagnostics

To improve the biorecognition process and overall bioreceptor performance, nano bio receptors were introduced, incorporating nanotubes, nanowires, and nano-dots in the sensing assembly. Replacing micro-sized particles with nanosized ones transforms the biosensor into a nano biosensor, with the advantage of rapidly identifying targeted biological tissues at an ultra-low molecular level. Its high sensitivity is particularly useful in cases of cancer diagnosis for example, as nano biosensors in comparison to conventional biosensors can detect cancer cell molecules at very early stages and in very low concentrations [127]. Nanobiosensors are also mechanically compliant, as they are easily displaced and deformed in response to very low forces, therefore, sensitive enough to detect the breaking of chemical bonds [128]. This is attributed to its nano-size effects, as the high surface area to core ratio increases the level of sensitivity, electrical properties, and response time of the biosensor [129].

7.8.2 Preventive dentistry

A nano-toothbrush has been devised by placing nano-colloidal gold or nano-silver particles between toothbrush bristles [130]. In addition to its ability to improve mechanical plaque removal, researchers have discovered that added gold or silver has an antibacterial effect, which may eventually lead to a significant reduction in gum disease. According to the study, oral hygiene products such as toothpaste and mouthwash solutions were also modified. Nano-calcium fluoride, for instance, was added to mouthwash products to reduce caries activity, reduce dentine permeability, and increase labile fluoride concentration in oral fluid. Toothpaste containing calcium carbonate nanoparticles and 3% nanosized sodium trimetaphosphate has been reported to promote remineralization of early carious lesions in comparison to conventional toothpaste with no nano-additives. According to results from an in vitro study, toothpaste containing nano-hydroxyapatite crystals (nHA) significantly increased microhardness values in human enamel following an erosive challenge, in comparison to the same toothpaste without nHA [131].

7.8.3 Dental materials

7.8.3.1 Prosthodontics

Incorporating 0.4% TiO₂ nanoparticles into a 3D printed poly-methyl methacrylate (PMMA) denture base to improve its antibacterial characteristics and mechanical [132]. According to measurements using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR), Scanning Electron Microscopy, and tests for antimicrobial efficacy against Candida species. The addition of zirconium oxide nanoparticles significantly improved the hardness levels, flexural strength, and fracture toughness of the heat-cured PMMA denture base. Nano-sized fillers were used due to their superior dispersion properties, less aggregation potential, and biocompatibility with the organic polymer.

7.8.3.2 Endodontics

Applications of nanotechnology in endodontics include the incorporation of bioceramic nanoparticles such as bioglass, zirconia, and glass ceramics in endodontic sealers. It has been found that the use of nano-particles enhances the adaptation of the adhesive to nano-irregularities, in addition to its fast setting time in comparison to conventional sealers, its dimensional stability, insolubility in tissue fluid, chemical bond to tooth tissue, and osteoconductivity. This was corroborated by a recent study, testing the antibacterial effects against endodontic biofilm, bond strength to dentine, and the ionic release of calcium and phosphate when a novel bioactive endodontic sealer was used [133]. The sealer was a mix of dimethyl amino hexadecyl methacrylate (DMAHDM), 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC), and amorphous calcium phosphate nanoparticles (NACP)

7.8.3.3 Periodontics, Implantology, and regenerative dentistry

Scientists were able to create a novel drug delivery system for the treatment of periodontal disease, through triclosan or tetracycline-loaded nanoparticles. These nanoparticles are uniformly dispersed within a matrix, which gradually biodegrades, releasing loaded drugs in increments to provide a longer contact duration with the diseased site. Niosomes, for instance, are chemically stable non-ionic vesicles, which offer a controlled and targeted drug delivery with enhanced penetration through biological tissue especially when the particles are less than 100 nm in size.

8. Challenges of AuNPs in clinical applications

Although AuNP-assisted PTT and PDT have demonstrated promising benefits in cancer treatment in vitro and in vivo in a variety of cancers, several obstacles must be overcome before such treatments can be translated to the clinic. Cytotoxicity is a particular challenge, especially when long-term treatment is contemplated. Despite some evidence that AuNPs are biocompatible, cytotoxicity caused by AuNPs treatment could be caused by surface ligands and laser damage [94]. Another issue is biodistribution, as AuNPs can accumulate in the liver and spleen, where some studies have shown the toxic effects of AuNPs [134]. Furthermore, due to the requirement for localized activation, AuNPs may have limited clinical utility in the treatment of metastatic and recurrent cancer [135].

9. Toxicity of AuNPs

Several studies have raised questions about the toxicity of these nanoparticles. AuNPs toxicity is influenced by physicochemical properties such as size, charge, shape, and surface chemistry. An in vitro study revealed that AuNPs protected with Ph₂PC₆H₄SO₃Na and P(C₆ H₄SO₃Na)₃ ligands were toxic to different cell lines in a size-dependent and cell typeindependent manner. The cytotoxicity of 1.4 nm AuNPs was up to 60-fold higher than that of 15 nm AuNPs [136]. The same working group later found that 1.4 nm triphenylphosphine mono sulfonate-coated AuNPs cause reactive oxygen species generation, up-regulation of stress and inflammation-related genes, mitochondrial permeability transition, and then cell death in HeLa human cervix carcinoma cells [137]. Another study demonstrated that 1.4 nm AuNPs were able to bind to the DNA of both healthy and cancerous cells [138]. Mironova et al. demonstrated that neither 13 nm nor 45 nm AuNPs enters the nucleus or mitochondria of human dermal fibroblasts, instead remaining in cytoplasmic vacuoles and that 45 nm particles caused more cell damage due to their different uptake mechanism and thus increased cytoplasmic release [139]. Particle shape is also important. A study found that the cellular uptake of spherical AuNPs is greater than that of rod-shaped AuNPs [140]. Toxicity is also affected by charge, as demonstrated by Goodman et al experiments, which revealed that positively charged particles were more toxic than negatively charged particles [141].

Other research suggests that surface chemistry, rather than charge, is more important in the cytotoxicity of AuNPs. Positively charged poly(diallyl dimethylammonium chloride)coated AuNPs were found to be more biocompatible with cell membranes than positively charged cetyltrimethylammonium bromide-coated AuNPs [142]. Exposure time and concentration are also critical parameters. In vitro research revealed: a) toxicity increased proportionally to GNP concentration [139][141][143], b) cytoskeleton filaments of cells can recover within 14 days after stopping exposure to AuNPs [138], and c) both chronic and initial acute exposures to AuNPs at a low dose can induce modifications at the gene level after 20 weeks [144] Several in vivo experiments were carried out to assess the systemic toxicity of AuNPs. Here too, GNP properties are key parameters in toxicity. Studies showed that size and charge can affect the absorption and biodistribution of AuNPs in the animal model. The smaller and negatively charged particles seem to have the highest absorption rate and the widest organ distribution [145][146]. AuNPs surface coating and shape were also proven to influence biodistribution in vivo [147][148]. Other research has found that AuNPs, regardless of charge or surface chemistry, tend to accumulate in the liver and spleen [149][150]. Kidneys appear to be especially vulnerable to GNP exposure. An experiment revealed that AuNPs altered renal tissue in a size-dependent manner, with smaller particles causing more damage [151]. The route of administration can also affect the toxicity and fate of AuNPs within the body. An in vivo study revealed that the toxicity of AuNPs is higher after oral and intraperitoneal administration than after tail vein administration [152]. AuNPs' embryotoxicity and genotoxicity have also been studied. In zebrafish embryos exposed to cationic N, N,N-trimethylammoniumethanethiol-capped AuNPs, eye development, and pigmentation were disrupted, followed by behavioral and neuronal damage [153]. An in vivo study in Drosophila melanogaster revealed a mutagenic effect of 15 nm naked AuNPs. Phenotypic modifications in the subsequent generations of Drosophila proved AuNPs' capability to cause mutagenic effects that may be transmitted to the progenies [154].

Conclusions :

In summary, AuNPs have distinct optical and surface properties that distinguish them from other nanoparticles, allowing for their potential use in the diagnosis and treatment of cancers such as lung, breast, cervical, liver, and colorectal cancer. Despite promising preclinical results, several issues concerning biosafety and adverse/toxic effects must still be addressed. Future research will be needed to determine the immunological response to AuNP formulations as well as their pharmacokinetic profile.

Given the extraordinary interest in the development of transition metal complexes, the horizons can be expanded by using amazing and highly promising nanoparticles such as platinum and palladium as potential antitumor agents and to solve a wide range of medical problems, so the content can be directed towards future developments of platinum and palladium complexes.

REFERENCES:

- [1] S. Wu, W. Zhu, P. Thompson, and Y. A. Hannun, "Evaluating intrinsic and non-intrinsic cancer risk factors," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2018.
- [2] P. Anand *et al.*, "Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 2097–2116, 2008.
- [3] C. Wang, X. Li, Y. Wang, Z. Liu, L. Fu, and L. Hu, "Enhancement of radiation effect and increase of apoptosis in lung cancer cells by thio-glucose-bound gold nanoparticles at megavoltage radiation energies," J. nanoparticle Res., vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 1–12, 2013.
- K. Kobayashi, N. Usami, E. Porcel, S. Lacombe, and C. Le Sech, "Enhancement of radiation effect by heavy elements," *Mutat. Res. Mutat. Res.*, vol. 704, no. 1–3, pp. 123–131, 2010.

- [5] W. N. Rahman *et al.*, "Enhancement of radiation effects by gold nanoparticles for superficial radiation therapy," *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med.*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 136–142, 2009.
- [6] K. T. Butterworth *et al.*, "Evaluation of cytotoxicity and radiation enhancement using 1.9 nm gold particles: potential application for cancer therapy," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 21, no. 29, p. 295101, 2010.
- [7] J. F. Hainfeld, F. A. Dilmanian, Z. Zhong, D. N. Slatkin, J. A. Kalef-Ezra, and H. M. Smilowitz, "Gold nanoparticles enhance the radiation therapy of a murine squamous cell carcinoma," *Phys. Med. Biol.*, vol. 55, no. 11, p. 3045, 2010.
- [8] S. Bhattacharyya, R. A. Kudgus, R. Bhattacharya, and P. Mukherjee, "Inorganic nanoparticles in cancer therapy," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 237–259, 2011.
- [9] M. A. K. Abdelhalim, M. M. Mady, and M. M. Ghannam, "Physical properties of different gold nanoparticles: ultraviolet-visible and fluorescence measurements," J Nanomed Nanotechol, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 178–194, 2012.
- [10] S. Akhter, M. Z. Ahmad, F. J. Ahmad, G. Storm, and R. J. Kok, "Gold nanoparticles in theranostic oncology: current state-of-the-art," *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1225–1243, 2012.
- [11] G. Schmid, "Physical and chemical consequences of size-reduction of gold: bioresponse and biodistribution," *J. Clust. Sci.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 29–49, 2014.
- [12] A. Sazgarnia, A. Shanei, N. T. Meibodi, H. Eshghi, and H. Nassirli, "A novel nanosonosensitizer for sonodynamic therapy: in vivo study on a colon tumor model," *J. Ultrasound Med.*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1321–1329, 2011.
- [13] J. F. Hainfeld, F. A. Dilmanian, D. N. Slatkin, and H. M. Smilowitz, "Radiotherapy enhancement with gold nanoparticles," J. Pharm. Pharmacol., vol. 60, no. 8, pp. 977– 985, 2008.
- [14] J. D. Trono, K. Mizuno, N. Yusa, T. Matsukawa, K. Yokoyama, and M. Uesaka, "Size, concentration and incubation time dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into pancreas cancer cells and its future application to X-ray drug delivery system," J. Radiat. Res., vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 103–109, 2011.
- [15] S. Jain, D. G. Hirst, and J. O'Sullivan, "Gold nanoparticles as novel agents for cancer therapy," Br. J. Radiol., vol. 85, no. 1010, pp. 101–113, 2012.
- [16] F. Geng *et al.*, "Thio-glucose bound gold nanoparticles enhance radio-cytotoxic targeting of ovarian cancer," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 22, no. 28, p. 285101, 2011.
- [17] J. Qiao and L. Qi, "Recent progress in plant-gold nanoparticles fabrication methods and bio-applications," *Talanta*, vol. 223, p. 121396, 2021.
- [18] J. Beik *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticles in combinatorial cancer therapy strategies," *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, vol. 387, pp. 299–324, 2019.
- [19] K. S. Siddiqi and A. Husen, "Recent advances in plant-mediated engineered gold nanoparticles and their application in biological system," *J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol.*,

vol. 40, pp. 10–23, 2017.

- [20] S. H. Lee *et al.*, "Facile method for the synthesis of gold nanoparticles using an ion coater," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 434, pp. 1001–1006, 2018.
- [21] N. Elahi, M. Kamali, and M. H. Baghersad, "Recent biomedical applications of gold nanoparticles: A review," *Talanta*, vol. 184, pp. 537–556, 2018.
- [22] M. Teimouri *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticles fabrication by plant extracts: synthesis, characterization, degradation of 4-nitrophenol from industrial wastewater, and insecticidal activity—a review," *J. Clean. Prod.*, vol. 184, pp. 740–753, 2018.
- [23] K. Park, S. Lee, E. Kang, K. Kim, K. Choi, and I. C. Kwon, "New generation of multifunctional nanoparticles for cancer imaging and therapy," Adv. Funct. Mater., vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 1553–1566, 2009.
- [24] W. H. De Jong, W. I. Hagens, P. Krystek, M. C. Burger, A. J. A. M. Sips, and R. E. Geertsma, "Particle size-dependent organ distribution of gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration," *Biomaterials*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 1912–1919, 2008.
- [25] H. Eshghi, A. Sazgarnia, M. Rahimizadeh, N. Attaran, M. Bakavoli, and S. Soudmand, "Protoporphyrin IX–gold nanoparticle conjugates as an efficient photosensitizer in cervical cancer therapy," *Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 304–312, 2013.
- [26] F. Alam, M. Naim, M. Aziz, and N. Yadav, "Unique roles of nanotechnology in medicine and cancer," *Indian J. Cancer*, vol. 51, no. 4, p. 506, 2014.
- [27] Y.-H. Chen *et al.*, "Methotrexate conjugated to gold nanoparticles inhibits tumor growth in a syngeneic lung tumor model," *Mol. Pharm.*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 713–722, 2007.
- [28] E. C. Dreaden, S. C. Mwakwari, Q. H. Sodji, A. K. Oyelere, and M. A. El-Sayed, "Tamoxifen- poly (ethylene glycol)- thiol gold nanoparticle conjugates: enhanced potency and selective delivery for breast cancer treatment," *Bioconjug. Chem.*, vol. 20, no. 12, pp. 2247–2253, 2009.
- [29] J. D. Gibson, B. P. Khanal, and E. R. Zubarev, "Paclitaxel-functionalized gold nanoparticles," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 129, no. 37, pp. 11653–11661, 2007.
- [30] S. Dhar, W. L. Daniel, D. A. Giljohann, C. A. Mirkin, and S. J. Lippard, "Polyvalent oligonucleotide gold nanoparticle conjugates as delivery vehicles for platinum (IV) warheads," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 131, no. 41, pp. 14652–14653, 2009.
- [31] S. D. Brown *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticles for the improved anticancer drug delivery of the active component of oxaliplatin," *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, vol. 132, no. 13, pp. 4678– 4684, 2010.
- [32] Y. Cheng, A. C. Samia, J. D. Meyers, I. Panagopoulos, B. Fei, and C. Burda, "Highly efficient drug delivery with gold nanoparticle vectors for in vivo photodynamic therapy of cancer," *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, vol. 130, no. 32, pp. 10643–10647, 2008.
- [33] N. Sobhani, A. Sazgarnia, O. Rajabi, S. Soudmand, and N. Naghavi, "A study on the

photobleaching effect of 5-ALA conjugated gold nanoparticles in a CT26 tumor model during photodynamic therapy," *Iran. J. Med. Phys.*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 217–224, 2012.

- [34] Y. Yang, Y. Hu, H. Du, L. Ren, and H. Wang, "Colloidal plasmonic gold nanoparticles and gold nanorings: shape-dependent generation of singlet oxygen and their performance in enhanced photodynamic cancer therapy," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 13, p. 2065, 2018.
- [35] Z. Mohammadi, A. Sazgarnia, O. Rajabi, S. Soudmand, H. Esmaily, and H. R. Sadeghi, "An in vitro study on the photosensitivity of 5-aminolevulinic acid conjugated gold nanoparticles," *Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther.*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 382–388, 2013.
- [36] J. Choi *et al.*, "Targetable gold nanorods for epithelial cancer therapy guided by near-IR absorption imaging," *Small*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 746–753, 2012.
- [37] T. Curry, R. Kopelman, M. Shilo, and R. Popovtzer, "Multifunctional theranostic gold nanoparticles for targeted CT imaging and photothermal therapy," *Contrast Media Mol. Imaging*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 53–61, 2014.
- [38] L. R. Hirsch et al., "Nanoshell-mediated near-infrared thermal therapy of tumors under magnetic resonance guidance," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., vol. 100, no. 23, pp. 13549–13554, 2003.
- [39] A. Mehdizadeh *et al.*, "The effects of folate-conjugated gold nanorods in combination with plasmonic photothermal therapy on mouth epidermal carcinoma cells," *Lasers Med. Sci.*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 939–948, 2014.
- [40] D. S. Salem, M. A. Sliem, M. El-Sesy, S. A. Shouman, and Y. Badr, "Improved chemophotothermal therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma using chitosan-coated gold nanoparticles," J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol., vol. 182, pp. 92–99, 2018.
- [41] A. Sazgarnia *et al.*, "Therapeutic effects of acoustic cavitation in the presence of gold nanoparticles on a colon tumor model," *J. Ultrasound Med.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 475– 483, 2013.
- [42] X. Li *et al.*, "Enhancement of cell recognition in vitro by dual-ligand cancer targeting gold nanoparticles," *Biomaterials*, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 2540–2545, 2011.
- [43] K. Abnous, N. M. Danesh, M. Ramezani, S. M. Taghdisi, and A. S. Emrani, "A novel colorimetric aptasensor for ultrasensitive detection of cocaine based on the formation of three-way junction pockets on the surfaces of gold nanoparticles," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 1020, pp. 110–115, 2018.
- [44] J. F. Hainfeld, M. J. O'Connor, L. Lin, D. N. Slatkin, F. A. Dilmanian, and H. M. Smilowitz, "Gold nanoparticle-mediated infrared hyperthermia reduces the radiotherapy dose required for tumor therapy," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 74, no. 19_Supplement, p. 851, 2014.
- [45] S. Yook, Z. Cai, Y. Lu, J. P. Pignol, M. A. Winnik, and R. M. Reilly, "Synthesis and characterization of EGFR antibody-mediated tumor targeted" gold nanobombs" for treatment of locally advanced breast cancer," in CANCER RESEARCH, 2013, vol. 73.
- [46] J. Han et al., "Photothermal therapy of cancer cells using novel hollow gold

nanoflowers," Int. J. Nanomedicine, vol. 9, pp. 517–527, 2014.

- [47] A. François *et al.*, "Encapsulation of docetaxel into PEGylated gold nanoparticles for vectorization to cancer cells," *ChemMedChem*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 2003–2008, 2011.
- [48] N. L. Angeloni, K. M. McMahon, and C. S. Thaxton, "Loading and molecular labeling of cell-specific exosomes by HDL-like AuNPs," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 75, no. 15_Supplement, p. 3671, 2015.
- [49] P. S. Kumar, M. V. Jeyalatha, J. Malathi, and S. Ignacimuthu, "Anticancer effects of one-pot synthesized biogenic gold nanoparticles (Mc-AuNps) against laryngeal carcinoma," J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol., vol. 44, pp. 118–128, 2018.
- [50] A. Jafarizad *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticles and reduced graphene oxide-gold nanoparticle composite materials as covalent drug delivery systems for breast cancer treatment," *ChemistrySelect*, vol. 2, no. 23, pp. 6663–6672, 2017.
- [51] K. D. Lee, P. C. Nagajyothi, T. V. M. Sreekanth, and S. Park, "Eco-friendly synthesis of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) using Inonotus obliquus and their antibacterial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activities," *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.*, vol. 26, pp. 67–72, 2015.
- [52] N. Fu *et al.*, "Au nanoparticles on two-dimensional MoS 2 nanosheets as a photoanode for efficient photoelectrochemical miRNA detection," *Analyst*, vol. 143, no. 7, pp. 1705–1712, 2018.
- [53] T. A. Saleh, K. M. M. AlAqad, and A. Rahim, "Electrochemical sensor for the determination of ketoconazole based on gold nanoparticles modified carbon paste electrode," J. Mol. Liq., vol. 256, pp. 39–48, 2018.
- [54] F. Fu et al., "Selective and sensitive detection of lysozyme based on plasmon resonance light-scattering of hydrolyzed peptidoglycan stabilized-gold nanoparticles," *Analyst*, vol. 143, no. 5, pp. 1133–1140, 2018.
- [55] K. Shrivas, N. Nirmalkar, S. S. Thakur, M. K. Deb, S. S. Shinde, and R. Shankar, "Sucrose capped gold nanoparticles as a plasmonic chemical sensor based on non-covalent interactions: Application for selective detection of vitamins B1 and B6 in brown and white rice food samples," *Food Chem.*, vol. 250, pp. 14–21, 2018.
- [56] E. M. Hébert, P.-J. Debouttière, M. Lepage, L. Sanche, and D. J. Hunting, "Preferential tumour accumulation of gold nanoparticles, visualised by Magnetic Resonance Imaging: radiosensitisation studies in vivo and in vitro," *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.*, vol. 86, no. 8, pp. 692–700, 2010.
- [57] M. Bikram, A. M. Gobin, R. E. Whitmire, and J. L. West, "Temperature-sensitive hydrogels with SiO2–Au nanoshells for controlled drug delivery," J. Control. Release, vol. 123, no. 3, pp. 219–227, 2007.
- [58] S. S. Agasti, A. Chompoosor, C.-C. You, P. Ghosh, C. K. Kim, and V. M. Rotello, "Photoregulated release of caged anticancer drugs from gold nanoparticles," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 131, no. 16, pp. 5728–5729, 2009.
- [59] R. Hong, G. Han, J. M. Fernández, B. Kim, N. S. Forbes, and V. M. Rotello, "Glutathione-mediated delivery and release using monolayer protected nanoparticle

carriers," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 128, no. 4, pp. 1078–1079, 2006.

- [60] G. F. Paciotti *et al.*, "Colloidal gold: a novel nanoparticle vector for tumor directed drug delivery," *Drug Deliv.*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 169–183, 2004.
- [61] H. Zhang, L. Liu, X. Fu, and Z. Zhu, "Microfluidic beads-based immunosensor for sensitive detection of cancer biomarker proteins using multienzyme-nanoparticle amplification and quantum dotslabels," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 42, pp. 23–30, 2013.
- [62] G. Chang *et al.*, "Reduced graphene oxide/amaranth extract/AuNPs composite hydrogel on tumor cells as integrated platform for localized and multiple synergistic therapy," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 7, no. 21, pp. 11246–11256, 2015.
- [63] H. M. Smilowitz *et al.*, "Intravenously-injected gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) access intracerebral F98 rat gliomas better than AuNPs infused directly into the tumor site by convection enhanced delivery," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 13, p. 3937, 2018.
- [64] Y. Hu *et al.*, "Chitosan gel incorporated peptide-modified AuNPs for sustained drug delivery with smart pH responsiveness," J. Mater. Chem. B, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 1174– 1181, 2017.
- [65] I.-C. Sun *et al.*, "Biocompatible glycol chitosan-coated gold nanoparticles for tumortargeting CT imaging," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 1418–1425, 2014.
- [66] W. Lin, X. Zhang, L. Qian, N. Yao, Y. Pan, and L. Zhang, "Doxorubicin-loaded unimolecular micelle-stabilized gold nanoparticles as a theranostic nanoplatform for tumor-targeted chemotherapy and computed tomography imaging," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 3869–3880, 2017.
- [67] H.-S. Chuang, Y.-J. Chen, and H.-P. Cheng, "Enhanced diffusometric immunosensing with grafted gold nanoparticles for detection of diabetic retinopathy biomarker tumor necrosis factor-α," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 101, pp. 75–83, 2018.
- [68] S. T. Chuang, Y.-S. Shon, and V. Narayanaswami, "Apolipoprotein E3-mediated cellular uptake of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein bearing core 3, 10, or 17 nm hydrophobic gold nanoparticles," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 12, p. 8495, 2017.
- [69] S. Ruan *et al.*, "Matrix metalloproteinase-sensitive size-shrinkable nanoparticles for deep tumor penetration and pH triggered doxorubicin release," *Biomaterials*, vol. 60, pp. 100–110, 2015.
- [70] K. Han, J.-Y. Zhu, S.-B. Wang, Z.-H. Li, S.-X. Cheng, and X.-Z. Zhang, "Tumor targeted gold nanoparticles for FRET-based tumor imaging and light responsive on-demand drug release," J. Mater. Chem. B, vol. 3, no. 41, pp. 8065–8069, 2015.
- [71] L. Qin *et al.*, "'Gold rush' in modern science: fabrication strategies and typical advanced applications of gold nanoparticles in sensing," *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, vol. 359, pp. 1–31, 2018.
- [72] N. Chanda *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticle based X-ray contrast agent for tumor imaging in mice and dog: a potential nanoplatform for computer tomography theranostics," *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 383–392, 2014.

JQUS: Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp 90-128

- [73] R. I. Berbeco, W. Ngwa, and G. M. Makrigiorgos, "Localized dose enhancement to tumor blood vessel endothelial cells via megavoltage X-rays and targeted gold nanoparticles: new potential for external beam radiotherapy," *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 270–276, 2011.
- [74] Y.-H. Wang *et al.*, "Ultrasensitive supersandwich-type biosensor for enzyme-free amplified microRNA detection based on N-doped graphene/Au nanoparticles and hemin/G-quadruplexes," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 6, no. 14, pp. 2134–2142, 2018.
- [75] T. D. Woiski *et al.*, "Anti-hMC2RL1 functionalized gold nanoparticles for adrenocortical tumor cells targeting and imaging," *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 68–76, 2017.
- [76] M. M. Joseph *et al.*, "Exploring the margins of SERS in practical domain: An emerging diagnostic modality for modern biomedical applications," *Biomaterials*, vol. 181, pp. 140–181, 2018.
- [77] W. Sun *et al.*, "A unique nanogel-based platform for enhanced dual mode tumor MR/CT imaging," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 6, no. 29, pp. 4835–4842, 2018.
- [78] J.-X. Fan, Z.-H. Li, X.-H. Liu, D.-W. Zheng, Y. Chen, and X.-Z. Zhang, "Bacteria-mediated tumor therapy utilizing photothermally-controlled TNF-α expression via oral administration," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 2373–2380, 2018.
- [79] M. M. Saber, S. Bahrainian, R. Dinarvand, and F. Atyabi, "Targeted drug delivery of Sunitinib Malate to tumor blood vessels by cRGD-chiotosan-gold nanoparticles," Int. J. Pharm., vol. 517, no. 1–2, pp. 269–278, 2017.
- [80] R. Wang *et al.*, "Heat shock protein-guided dual-mode CT/MR imaging of orthotopic hepatocellular carcinoma tumor," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 1342–1350, 2018.
- [81] W. Lu *et al.*, "Biomolecule-based formaldehyde resin microspheres loaded with Au nanoparticles: a novel immunoassay for detection of tumor markers in human serum," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 53, pp. 346–354, 2014.
- [82] M. Cui, Z. Song, Y. Wu, B. Guo, X. Fan, and X. Luo, "A highly sensitive biosensor for tumor maker alpha fetoprotein based on poly (ethylene glycol) doped conducting polymer PEDOT," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 79, pp. 736–741, 2016.
- [83] J.-W. Liu *et al.*, "Tumor-targeted graphitic carbon nitride nanoassembly for activatable two-photon fluorescence imaging," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 90, no. 7, pp. 4649– 4656, 2018.
- [84] M. Luna-Gutiérrez *et al.*, "177Lu-labeled monomeric, dimeric and multimeric RGD peptides for the therapy of tumors expressing α (v) β (3) integrins," *J. Label. Compd. Radiopharm.*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 140–148, 2012.
- [85] F. Silva et al., "Interrogating the role of receptor-mediated mechanisms: biological fate of peptide-functionalized radiolabeled gold nanoparticles in tumor mice," *Bioconjug. Chem.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 1153–1164, 2016.
- [86] C.-K. Su et al., "Online open-tubular fractionation scheme coupled with push-pull

perfusion sampling for profiling extravasation of gold nanoparticles in a mouse tumor model," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1402, pp. 1–7, 2015.

- [87] M. Mitra *et al.*, "Novel epithelial cell adhesion molecule antibody conjugated polyethyleneimine-capped gold nanoparticles for enhanced and targeted small interfering RNA delivery to retinoblastoma cells," *Mol. Vis.*, vol. 19, p. 1029, 2013.
- [88] A. Ahmeda, A. Zangeneh, and M. M. Zangeneh, "Green synthesis and chemical characterization of gold nanoparticle synthesized using Camellia sinensis leaf aqueous extract for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia in comparison to daunorubicin in a leukemic mouse model," *Appl. Organomet. Chem.*, vol. 34, no. 3, p. e5290, 2020.
- [89] A. Sánchez-Coronilla, E. I. Martín, F. J. Fernández-de-Cordova, R. Prado-Gotor, and J. Hidalgo, "Theoretical study on the interactions between ibrutinib and gold nanoparticles for being used as drug delivery in the chronic lymphocytic leukemia," J. Mol. Liq., vol. 316, p. 113878, 2020.
- [90] H. Zhang, H. Ke, Y. Wang, P. Li, C. Huang, and N. Jia, "3D carbon nanosphere and gold nanoparticle-based voltammetric cytosensor for cell line A549 and for early diagnosis of non-small cell lung cancer cells," *Microchim. Acta*, vol. 186, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2019.
- [91] E. Shahhoseini *et al.*, "Combined effects of gold nanoparticles and ionizing radiation on human prostate and lung cancer cell migration," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 20, no. 18, p. 4488, 2019.
- [92] C. E. DeSantis, J. Ma, A. Goding Sauer, L. A. Newman, and A. Jemal, "Breast cancer statistics, 2017, racial disparity in mortality by state," CA. Cancer J. Clin., vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 439–448, 2017.
- [93] V. L. Sirisha, A. Jain, and A. Jain, "Enzyme immobilization: an overview on methods, support material, and applications of immobilized enzymes," Adv. Food Nutr. Res., vol. 79, pp. 179–211, 2016.
- [94] M. R. K. Ali, Y. Wu, and M. A. El-Sayed, "Gold-nanoparticle-assisted plasmonic photothermal therapy advances toward clinical application," *J. Phys. Chem. C*, vol. 123, no. 25, pp. 15375–15393, 2019.
- [95] S. K. Vemuri *et al.*, "Novel biosynthesized gold nanoparticles as anti-cancer agents against breast cancer: Synthesis, biological evaluation, molecular modelling studies," *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, vol. 99, pp. 417–429, 2019.
- [96] Ł. Dziawer *et al.*, "Trastuzumab-modified gold nanoparticles labeled with 211At as a prospective tool for local treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 632, 2019.
- [97] L. Liu *et al.*, "Functional chlorin gold nanorods enable to treat breast cancer by photothermal/photodynamic therapy," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 13, p. 8119, 2018.
- [98] Y. Ke *et al.*, "Photosynthesized gold nanoparticles from Catharanthus roseus induces caspase-mediated apoptosis in cervical cancer cells (HeLa)," *Artif. cells, nanomedicine, Biotechnol.*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 1938–1946, 2019.
- [99] J. A. Marrero et al., "Diagnosis, S taging, and M anagement of H epatocellular C

arcinoma: 2018 P ractice G uidance by the A merican A ssociation for the S tudy of L iver D iseases," *Hepatology*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 723–750, 2018.

- [100] T. Ashokkumar et al., "Apoptosis in liver cancer (HepG2) cells induced by functionalized gold nanoparticles," *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, vol. 123, pp. 549–556, 2014.
- [101] J.-Y. Huang et al., "MicroRNA-451: epithelial-mesenchymal transition inhibitor and prognostic biomarker of hepatocelluar carcinoma," Oncotarget, vol. 6, no. 21, p. 18613, 2015.
- [102] Y. Mo *et al.*, "Gold nano-particles (AuNPs) carrying miR-326 targets PDK1/AKT/c-myc axis in hepatocellular carcinoma," *Artif. Cells, Nanomedicine, Biotechnol.*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 2830–2837, 2019.
- [103] C.-S. Lee *et al.*, "Doxorubicin-loaded oligonucleotide conjugated gold nanoparticles: A promising in vivo drug delivery system for colorectal cancer therapy," *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, vol. 142, pp. 416–423, 2017.
- [104] R. Rampado, S. Crotti, P. Caliceti, S. Pucciarelli, and M. Agostini, "Nanovectors design for theranostic applications in colorectal cancer," *J. Oncol.*, vol. 2019, 2019.
- [105] D. Li, Q. He, Y. Cui, L. Duan, and J. Li, "Immobilization of glucose oxidase onto gold nanoparticles with enhanced thermostability," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 355, no. 2, pp. 488–493, 2007.
- [106] R. Kumar, A. N. Maitra, P. K. Patanjali, and P. Sharma, "Hollow gold nanoparticles encapsulating horseradish peroxidase," *Biomaterials*, vol. 26, no. 33, pp. 6743–6753, 2005.
- [107] A. J. Di Pasqua, R. E. Mishler II, Y.-L. Ship, J. C. Dabrowiak, and T. Asefa, "Preparation of antibody-conjugated gold nanoparticles," *Mater. Lett.*, vol. 63, no. 21, pp. 1876– 1879, 2009.
- [108] Z. Peng, Z. Chen, J. Jiang, X. Zhang, G. Shen, and R. Yu, "A novel immunoassay based on the dissociation of immunocomplex and fluorescence quenching by gold nanoparticles," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 583, no. 1, pp. 40–44, 2007.
- [109] Y. Liu, Y. Liu, R. L. Mernaugh, and X. Zeng, "Single chain fragment variable recombinant antibody functionalized gold nanoparticles for a highly sensitive colorimetric immunoassay," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 2853–2857, 2009.
- [110] Z. Shen, H. Yan, Y. Zhang, R. L. Mernaugh, and X. Zeng, "Engineering peptide linkers for scFv immunosensors," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 1910–1917, 2008.
- [111] Y.-T. Chen, C.-L. Hsu, and S.-Y. Hou, "Detection of single-nucleotide polymorphisms using gold nanoparticles and single-strand-specific nucleases," *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 375, no. 2, pp. 299–305, 2008.
- [112] L. Sun *et al.*, "Effect of pH on the interaction of gold nanoparticles with DNA and application in the detection of human p53 gene mutation," *Nanoscale Res. Lett.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 216–220, 2009.

JQUS: Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp 90-128

- [113] J. H. Lee, Z. Wang, J. Liu, and Y. Lu, "Highly sensitive and selective colorimetric sensors for uranyl (UO22+): Development and comparison of labeled and label-free DNAzyme-gold nanoparticle systems," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 130, no. 43, pp. 14217– 14226, 2008.
- [114] R. Velu, V. T. Ramakrishnan, and P. Ramamurthy, "Colorimetric and fluorometric chemosensors for selective signaling toward Ca2+ and Mg2+ by aza-crown ether acridinedione-functionalized gold nanoparticles," *Tetrahedron Lett.*, vol. 51, no. 33, pp. 4331–4335, 2010.
- [115] F. Chai, C. Wang, T. Wang, Z. Ma, and Z. Su, "L-cysteine functionalized gold nanoparticles for the colorimetric detection of Hg2+ induced by ultraviolet light," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 21, no. 2, p. 25501, 2009.
- [116] D. Li, A. Wieckowska, and I. Willner, "Optical analysis of Hg2+ ions by oligonucleotide– gold-nanoparticle hybrids and DNA-based machines," *Angew. Chemie*, vol. 120, no. 21, pp. 3991–3995, 2008.
- [117] M. Hu, L. Qian, R. P. Briñas, E. S. Lymar, L. Kuznetsova, and J. F. Hainfeld, "Gold nanoparticle-protein arrays improve resolution for cryo-electron microscopy," J. Struct. Biol., vol. 161, no. 1, pp. 83–91, 2008.
- [118] S. A. Svarovsky, Z. Szekely, and J. J. Barchi, "Synthesis of gold nanoparticles bearing the Thomsen–Friedenreich disaccharide: a new multivalent presentation of an important tumor antigen," *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 587–598, 2005.
- [119] R. Ojeda, J. L. de Paz, A. G. Barrientos, M. Martín-Lomas, and S. Penadés, "Preparation of multifunctional glyconanoparticles as a platform for potential carbohydrate-based anticancer vaccines," *Carbohydr. Res.*, vol. 342, no. 3–4, pp. 448–459, 2007.
- [120] A. L. Parry, N. A. Clemson, J. Ellis, S. S. R. Bernhard, B. G. Davis, and N. R. Cameron, "'Multicopy multivalent'glycopolymer-stabilized gold nanoparticles as potential synthetic cancer vaccines," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 135, no. 25, pp. 9362–9365, 2013.
- [121] J. H. Kim, M. H. Kim, D. H. Jo, Y. S. Yu, T. G. Lee, and J. H. Kim, "The inhibition of retinal neovascularization by gold nanoparticles via suppression of VEGFR-2 activation," *Biomaterials*, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 1865–1871, 2011.
- [122] G. V Reva *et al.*, "Reaction of dermal structures to subcutaneous injection of gold nanoparticles to CBA mice," *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.*, vol. 156, no. 4, pp. 491–494, 2014.
- [123] F. Pan *et al.*, "Anterior gradient 2 as a supervisory marker for tumor vessel normalization induced by anti-angiogenic treatment," *Oncol. Lett.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 3083–3091, 2018.
- [124] P. Lau *et al.*, "Influence of gold nanoparticles on wound healing treatment in rat model: photobiomodulation therapy," *Lasers Surg. Med.*, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 380–386, 2017.
- [125] S. Saha *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticle reprograms pancreatic tumor microenvironment and inhibits tumor growth," *ACS Nano*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 10636–10651, 2016.

- [126] C. Roma-Rodrigues, A. Heuer-Jungemann, A. R. Fernandes, A. G. Kanaras, and P. V Baptista, "Peptide-coated gold nanoparticles for modulation of angiogenesis in vivo," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 11, p. 2633, 2016.
- [127] A. Touhami, "Biosensors and nanobiosensors: design and applications," *Nanomedicine*, vol. 15, pp. 374–403, 2014.
- [128] J. L. Arlett, E. B. Myers, and M. L. Roukes, "Comparative advantages of mechanical biosensors," *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 203–215, 2011.
- [129] S. Sagadevan and M. Periasamy, "Recent trends in nanobiosensors and their applications-a review," *Rev Adv Mater Sci*, vol. 36, no. 2014, pp. 62–69, 2014.
- [130] C. Raval, K. Vyas, U. Gandhi, B. Patel, and P. Patel, "Nanotechnology in dentistry: A review," J. Adv. Med. Dent. Sci. Res., vol. 4, no. 3, p. 51, 2016.
- [131] A. Ebadifar, M. Nomani, and S. A. Fatemi, "Effect of nano-hydroxyapatite toothpaste on microhardness of artificial carious lesions created on extracted teeth," J. Dent. Res. Dent. Clin. Dent. Prospects, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 14, 2017.
- [132] E. E. Totu, A. C. Nechifor, G. Nechifor, H. Y. Aboul-Enein, and C. M. Cristache, "Poly (methyl methacrylate) with TiO2 nanoparticles inclusion for stereolitographic complete denture manufacturing- the fututre in dental care for elderly edentulous patients?," J. Dent., vol. 59, pp. 68–77, 2017.
- [133] L. Wang *et al.*, "Novel bioactive root canal sealer to inhibit endodontic multispecies biofilms with remineralizing calcium phosphate ions," *J. Dent.*, vol. 60, pp. 25–35, 2017.
- [134] S. C. Gad, K. L. Sharp, C. Montgomery, J. D. Payne, and G. P. Goodrich, "Evaluation of the toxicity of intravenous delivery of auroshell particles (gold–silica nanoshells)," Int. J. Toxicol., vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 584–594, 2012.
- [135] L. Zou *et al.*, "Current approaches of photothermal therapy in treating cancer metastasis with nanotherapeutics," *Theranostics*, vol. 6, no. 6, p. 762, 2016.
- [136] Y. Pan et al., "Size-dependent cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles," Small, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 1941–1949, 2007.
- [137] Y. Pan *et al.*, "Gold nanoparticles of diameter 1.4 nm trigger necrosis by oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage," *small*, vol. 5, no. 18, pp. 2067–2076, 2009.
- [138] M. Tsoli, H. Kuhn, W. Brandau, H. Esche, and G. Schmid, "Cellular uptake and toxicity of Au55 clusters," *Small*, vol. 1, no. 8-9, pp. 841–844, 2005.
- [139] T. Mironava, M. Hadjiargyrou, M. Simon, V. Jurukovski, and M. H. Rafailovich, "Gold nanoparticles cellular toxicity and recovery: effect of size, concentration and exposure time," *Nanotoxicology*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 120–137, 2010.
- [140] B. D. Chithrani, A. A. Ghazani, and W. C. W. Chan, "Determining the size and shape dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into mammalian cells," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 662–668, 2006.
- [141] C. M. Goodman, C. D. McCusker, T. Yilmaz, and V. M. Rotello, "Toxicity of gold

JQUS: Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp 90-128

nanoparticles functionalized with cationic and anionic side chains," *Bioconjug. Chem.*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 897–900, 2004.

- [142] L. Wang *et al.*, "Surface chemistry of gold nanorods: origin of cell membrane damage and cytotoxicity," *Nanoscale*, vol. 5, no. 18, pp. 8384–8391, 2013.
- [143] Y. Qu and X. Lü, "Aqueous synthesis of gold nanoparticles and their cytotoxicity in human dermal fibroblasts–fetal," *Biomed. Mater.*, vol. 4, no. 2, p. 25007, 2009.
- [144] P. Falagan-Lotsch, E. M. Grzincic, and C. J. Murphy, "One low-dose exposure of gold nanoparticles induces long-term changes in human cells," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 113, no. 47, pp. 13318–13323, 2016.
- [145] J. F. Hillyer and R. M. Albrecht, "Gastrointestinal persorption and tissue distribution of differently sized colloidal gold nanoparticles," J. Pharm. Sci., vol. 90, no. 12, pp. 1927– 1936, 2001.
- [146] C. Schleh *et al.*, "Size and surface charge of gold nanoparticles determine absorption across intestinal barriers and accumulation in secondary target organs after oral administration," *Nanotoxicology*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 36–46, 2012.
- [147] Y. Wang *et al.*, "Comparison study of gold nanohexapods, nanorods, and nanocages for photothermal cancer treatment," *ACS Nano*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 2068–2077, 2013.
- [148] X.-D. Zhang *et al.*, "Size-dependent in vivo toxicity of PEG-coated gold nanoparticles," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 6, p. 2071, 2011.
- [149] E. Sadauskas, G. Danscher, M. Stoltenberg, U. Vogel, A. Larsen, and H. Wallin, "Protracted elimination of gold nanoparticles from mouse liver," *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med.*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 162–169, 2009.
- [150] J.-Y. Wang *et al.*, "Effects of surface charges of gold nanoclusters on long-term in vivo biodistribution, toxicity, and cancer radiation therapy," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 11, p. 3475, 2016.
- [151] M. A. K. Abdelhalim and B. M. Jarrar, "Renal tissue alterations were size-dependent with smaller ones induced more effects and related with time exposure of gold nanoparticles," *Lipids Health Dis.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2011.
- [152] X.-D. Zhang *et al.*, "Toxicologic effects of gold nanoparticles in vivo by different administration routes.," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 5, pp. 771–781, 2010.
- [153] K.-T. Kim, T. Zaikova, J. E. Hutchison, and R. L. Tanguay, "Gold nanoparticles disrupt zebrafish eye development and pigmentation," *Toxicol. Sci.*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 275– 288, 2013.
- [154] G. Vecchio *et al.*, "Mutagenic effects of gold nanoparticles induce aberrant phenotypes in Drosophila melanogaster," *Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2012.